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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

HAWO BADAL, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

Case No. 1-C-1704
ARIENS COMPANY,

Defendant.

DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING IN PART MOTION TO DISMISS

—+

Plaintiffs, nineteen American Black Muslims of Somali natiamddin, brought this su

against Defendant Ariens Company, alleging race, nationahpggd religious discriminatior

—

retaliation,and a hostile work environment, in violation of Title VII, 42 U.S§Q2000est seq.,
and race discrimination, in violation of 42 U.S&1981. Now before the court is Ariéns
motion for partial dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Fe&eras ofCivil Procedure

ECF No. 12. Ariensontends thaPlaintiffs have failed to state a claim under either Title VIl or

=

Section 1981 for discrimination on account of their race, nationgihoor ethnic backgrounc
and seeks dismissal of their complainttaghose claims For the reasons explained below,
Ariens motion will be granted in part.
Rule 12(b)(6) M otion To Dismiss and Rule 8 Pleading Standard
A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss tests the legal sufficieoty pleading. Szabo v.
Bridgeport Machines, Inc., 249 F.3d 672, 675 (7th Cir. 2001). To state a cognizable claim under

the federal notice pleading system, the plaintiff is required tage@“short and plain statement
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of the claim showing that [heg entitled to relief. Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). The complaint m

contain sufficient factual mattéthat is plausible on its face. Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662,

678 (2009) (quotingell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).
In Twombly, the Court rejected the liberal pleading stanadr@onley v. Gibson, under
which acomplaintwasnot to be dismissed for failure to state a cldimmless it appears beyo

doubt that the plaintiican prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would ehtith to

relief.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 56362 (quotingConley, 355 U.S. 41, 4516 (1957)). Rather

than requiring the defendant to show at the pleading stage thataihiffotan proe no set o
facts to support his claimfwombly held that to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismis
complaint must allegéenough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fack at

570. In so ruling, the Court exgssed concerover the cost of discoveryparticularly in

complex antitrust litigation of the kind presentedimombly itself. The Courtejected the view

that judicial supervision of the discovery process and the avaadiisummary judgment cou

effectively airb discovery abuse and expengal. at 55960 (‘It is no answer to say that a claj

just shy of a plausible entitlement to relief can, if groundlessveeded out early in the discov
process through careful case management, . . . given the commemt Mot the success
judicial supervision in checking discovery abuse has been on tlesingide.See, eg.,

EasterbrookDiscovery as Abuse, 69 B.U.L. Rev. 635, 638 (1989)Judges can do little abo

ust

ut

impositionaldiscovery when parties control the legal claims to be presented and ctmeluct

discovery themselvEs And it is selfevident that the problem of discovery abuse cannot be

solved by careful scrutiny of evidence at the summary judgment stagd#h les Icid

instructions to juries . . ") (internal quotations and citations omittedBased upon these

considerationshe Court concluded thdtw]hile a complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) mot

on




to dismiss does not need detailed factual allegationsa.plaintiff's obligation to provide th

‘groundsof his‘entitle[ment] to reliefrequires more than labels and conclusions, and a form

recitation of the elements of a cause of action will ndt did. at 555 (internal citations omitted).

In Igbal, a civil rights action, the Court made clear that the pleading standaedl|i

announced inTwombly was not confined to complas asserting antrust claimsbut was

grounded in the language of Rule 8(a) of the Federal Rules of Goak&ure:*Our decsion in

Twombly expounded the pleading standard‘&kcivil actions . . . and it applies to antitrust and

discrimination suits aliké. 556 U.S. at 684.

Igbal also highlightedtwo working principle$ underlyingTwombly. Id. at 678. First,
the Courtnoted that the rule requiring the court to accept as true all of the alegath the
complaint did not apply to legal conclusioti$hreadbare recitals of the elements of a caus
action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffide. Though it acknowledge
that “Rule 8 marks a notable and generous departure from the hypertechnicablezutieg
regime of a prior erathe Court emphasized that does not unlock the doors of discovery fqg
plaintiff armed with nothing more thatonclusions. Id. at 678-79. The secondwombly
principle the Court highlighted ifgbal is that“only a complaint that states a plausible claim
relief survives a motion to dismiés.ld. at 679. “To survive a motion to dismiss, a complg

must comain sufficient factual matter, accepted as truéstiate a claim to relief that is plausik
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on its face?” Id. (quotingTwombly, 550 U.S. at 570). The Court emphasized that determining

whether a complaint states a plausible claim for relief‘@#aext-specific task that requires t
reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and commoresens. While “not akin to g
probability requiremenitt,the standard requirésnore than a sheer possibility that the defen

acted unlawfully: Id. at 678.
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These are the principles that must govern the determination of Ametien to dismiss
Allegations of First Amended Complaint

According to theFirst Amended ComplaintFAC), Plaintiffs are all‘American Black

Muslims of Somali national origih,who are either currently employed by Ariens or w

employed at the time in questior=AC, ECF No. 11, af|{ 11-29,35. Ariens is describe

ere

d

simply as &for-profit corporatiori located in Brillion, Wisconsin, and an employer within the

meaning of Titlevll. 1d. §30. By way of backgroundhoweverthe court notes that Ariens is

manufacturer of lawn mowers, snow blowers and other machinesARIENS,

https://www.ariens.com/eus (last visited June 13, 2018). In any event, the FAC allegesashat

pracicing Muslims andn accordance with their sincereheld religious beliefs, each Plaint

performs a prayer ritual five times a day. These prayer rituadsatadut five minuteand must

be performed during prescribed time frames that vary dependingtbpqgoosition of the sun.

Some of the prayer times occur while Plaintiffs are at waldk. 1 35-36.

At the time they were hired, Plaintiffs requested religious accommaodabaallow them

to take short breaks during their shifts to perform ttiaily prayerrituals Ariens managemen

assured Plaintiffs that it would provide accommodation that would allow them short breaks i

prescribed prayer time should fall during their shift. InitiallyjeAs did in fact provide th
accommodation, and Plaintiffs, two at a time, would take short breg@esform the ritual. Thi
accommodation was in line with the compamigle policy of allowing employees to take sh
breaks for a variety of purposes, including to use the restroomesmuke a phone calbr
purchase a snackld. 11 3742. Plaintiffs allege that the religious accommodation wo

smoothly and caused no problems or burdens to the operation of Asimgess. 1d. 1143-44.
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Sometime in December 2015, Ariemsanagement team held a rieg with all of the
Somali Muslim employees, including Plaintiffs, and announced ttregtir religious

accommodation would be revoked, effective January 25, 2016. Some ofntladi Bluslims,

including some Plaintiffs, expressed concern that Atisctseduled breaks did not coincide w

the times in which they neeeldto saytheir prayes. All of the Somali Muslim workers, including
Plaintiffs, walked out of the meeting and did not return to workdagtin protest of the upcoming

change. Some of the workers, including some Plaintiffs, resignaatest of the revocation pf

their religious accommodationld. 1947-52.

ith

Between that datand January 25, 2016, Ariénsianagement met with the Somali

Muslims several additional timesAt each meeting, management encouraged the employges to

voluntarily resignand later explained that they risked being terminated if they conttouadte

prayer breaks after the accommodation was revokddnagement also informed the Somali

Muslims that if they resigmnk they could seek unemployment benefitimstructions on how tp

apply for such benefits weprovided, both in English and in the Somali languadef52—-64.

Despite this encouragemestme of the Somali Muslims did not resign and continued to

work even after the accommodation was revoked on January 25, 2016. Many sodg

received verbal permission from their supervisor to performptfager ritual. When thely

returned to their work station, however, they discovered a writteningawhich threateed

disciplinary actions for taking a break in violation of Arienew policy. Ariensmanagemernt

h

also moved the Somali Muslims into one area to monitomthad ensure they were rjot

requesting bathroom breaks to say their prayetgain, Ariensmanagenent advised the Soma

Muslims to voluntarily resign or they would continue to receveening slips until a disciplinany

action was taken against thenhd. 7166—69.




On February 1, 2016, AriendManufacturing leader told several Somali Muslim

employees, including seven of the Plaintiffs, to sign a document atddging they werg

violating company policy and that they may be fired if they contirtoegquest the religious

accommodation. All of the employees, including the seven Rfajntefused to sign. Later

A4

that day, the Manufacturing Leader met with these employees, accused theeingf b

“troublemakers$,and terminated them all. Those Plaintiffs who remained employatthued tg
request permission to perform their prayer ritual and continue@deve verbal or writte
warnings until their employment was terminateldtl. 1 78—88.

Based on these background factual allegations, the amended complams$ &ssr

separate claims or counts. Count | asserts a clafisérimination in Violation of Title VII?

Count Il asserts a claim f6Retaliation in Violation of Title VI Count Il asserts a claim of

“Hostile Work Environment in Violation of Title VN. Finally, Count IV (misnumbered)
asserts a claim fofViolation of 42 U.S.C.§ 1981(c)” It is to the race and national orig
components of PlaintiffsTitle VII claims and their Section 1981 claim that Arien®otion is
directed.
ANALYSIS

A. Race and National Origin Discrimination Under Title VII

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.G§ 2000e et seq., prohibits
discrimination“against any individual with respect to his compensation, termslit@oms, or
privileges of employmant, because of such individisakace, color, religion, sex, or natio
origin” 42 U.S.C.§ 2000e2. Ariens argues that Plaintiff§itle VII claim, to the extent it i
intended to include race or national origin discrimination, shbeldismissed lmause the FA(

fails to allege sufficient facts to support a claim for discrimoratin those bases. Ariens ng

n
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that the FAC alleges that Plaintiffs resigned or were terminatedtfieimemployment becau

Ariens changed its policy of accommodating kheslim prayer schedule and Plaintiffs continued

to take prayer breaks at unscheduled times during the work day. dtittloei FAC alleges th

the policy accommodating the Muslim prayer schedule created no prolidims workplace,

Ariens contends thatt ichanged its policy because it concluded allowing additional

unscheduled breaks throughout the work day caused undue hardshipgommtlod increased

costs of productiorreductions in efficiency, and additional burdens on those gmgsowho dig
not leave the production line for unscheduled breaks. 'Oieiem. in Suppof Mot. to Dismiss
ECF No. 13, at 1. Ariens recognizes that Plaintdfiegation that the policy did not cause
problems to its business is sufficient to state a claim untlerViil. See Trans World Airlines,
Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 74 (1977) (noting that intent and effect of Titles\définition of
religion is“to make it an unlawful employment practice ungl@03(a)(1) for an employer not
make reasonable accomdations, short of undue hardship, for the religious practicess
employees and prospective employgessee also 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1605.2 (Reasonab
accommodation without undue hardship as require8 BY1(j) of Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964). Ariens contends, however, that there are no facte@lleaghe FAC that eve
suggest the decision to rescind the accommodation had anythitho withPlaintiffs' race of
national origin.

In particular, Ariensotes that Plaintiffs have not alleged tAaensharboredanyanimus
against Plaintiffs based on their race and/or national origihereis no allegation that Arien

allowed white, norBomali employees to take breaks at times and for reasons thaSbiancki

and
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employees were denied, or timetnBlack and norSomali employees were exempt from break

time monitoring Nor is there any allegation that Ariens otherwise appliegolicies or




disciplined employees foriolating its policiesin a manner thatiscriminated against employe

based on race or national origirDef’s Mem. in Suppat 4-5. Absent any allegations tyir

Ariens decision to rescind the religious accommodation and the actions takepléonient that

decision to Plaintiffsrace or naobnal origin, Ariens contends, Plaintiffs are precluded f
pursuing race and national origin claims.

In response, Plaintiffs argue that under the minimal pleastiaigdards in employme
discrimination cases, it is enough for them to allege that thenoger instituted an adver
employment action against them on the basis of their race or natiggial oPIs! Resp in Opp.
to Mot. to Dismiss, ECF No. 15, at(diting Luevano v. Wal-Mart Sores, Inc., 722 F.3d 1014
1028 (7th Cir. 2013)SnMerkiewiczv. Sorema N.A., 534 U.S. 506 (2002)). Plaintiffs also contg
that their race and national origin are inseparable from theiraesidpeliefsPlaintiffs claimsof
religious, race and national origin [discrimination] @ interrelated as to be indistinguishab
Id. at 7 (quotingSasanngjad v. Univ. of Rochester, 329 F. Supp. 2d 385, 391 (W.D.N.Y. 2004
Plaintiffs also note that the FAC alleges thaefendant actively and repeatedbgregated the
black Somali Muslim employeés.Id. (citing FAC 147, 52, 63, 70). “Segregating Somag
black employees into a single area for singular scrutiny is raciabrighinatory; Plaintiffs
contend,“even if the Defendantlso had a religiously discriminatory purposeld. Plaintiffs
add that they arénot blind to the American history of racial segregatiothd.

Plaintiffs argument is unpersuasive. Theéitle VIl claim, to the extent it is intended
include race and national origin discrimination, fails to meet even ihienal pleading standar
Plaintiffs claim is applicable in employment discrimination casefaintifs contend that i
order to state a claim for race or national origin discriminatioder this minimal pleadin

standard, they need only allege that Ariens terminated their emeidy or otherwis

es
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discriminated against them in the conditions or terms of thgiamment because of their race

and national origin. But the FAC does not ewdfier that conclusory allegation in support

Plaintiffs Title VII claims. Indeed, there is no allegation of discriminatiorthe basis of race pr

national origin in any of the Title VIl counts or any of the factdl@igations on which they are

based For Count I, the FAC alleges that Ariens violated Title VII by

(1) subjecting Plaintiffs to harassment, intimidation, threat<eplinary action

for exercising their sincerelgeld religious beliefs, (2) revoking the original
reasonable accommodati of permitting Plaintiffs to take short, unscheduled
breaks during their shifts to perform their obligatory prayers, and aweidjgng an
alternative reasonable accommodation that would have enabled Plaintiffs t
adhere to their sincerelyeld religiousbeliefs and practices, even though such an
accommodation would not have interfered with business operations,3and (
terminating Plaintiffs employment or placing them on track for eventual
termination when they insisted on adhering to those beliefs antqgers.

FAC 1 93. Although each of the Plaintiffs are identified in the FAC a$Aanerican Black

Muslim of Somali national origifi,there is no allegation in Count | or in any of the 91 prece

allegations that are +&leged and incorporated by reference that Ariens acted against thag i

way on account of their race or national origin. On their facdatiteal allegations assert on

that Ariens violated Title VII by revoking the accommodation it had presly granted fo

Plaintiffs to take wrk breaks for prayer, took steps to insure that Plaintiffs i take

unauthorized breaks for that purpose, and imposed discipline up tinchnding termination

when they did. That is not the same as saying that Ariens disdahiagainst Plaintiéf on
account of their race or national origin.

Only the“jurisdiction and venuesection of the FAC mentions discrimination on the b
of race and national origin, and even there the FAC does not allege thas Aogrally
discriminated against Plaintiffs on those bases; instead, it altbge$Plaintiffs claims for

discrimination on the basis of race, religion and national origitaliation, and hostile wor
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environment in violation of Title VII are brougpursuant to 42 U.S.§.200(e)et seq.” 1d. 3.

There is no question, however, that the court has jurisdiction oe@nsc that Ariens

discriminated against Plaintiffs because of their race or natiogahoriThe question is whether

the FAC alleges‘enough facts to state [such] a claim to relief that is plausiblésofaae”

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570. It does not.

A careful reading of the background allegations of the FAC, as well ssgjhecific to the

Title VIl counts, leaves one at a loss as to the relevance of Plaradésor national origin to the

r

Title VII claims. The entire focus of the FAC a the denial of a religious accommodatipn.

While there may be cases in which tledigion, race and national origin of the plaintiff a

intertwined and inseparabs® as to be indistinguishablhis is notsuch a caséased on the

allegations of the FAC Plaintiffs allege no facts that make plausible their claim that tlsis
involves more than a dispute over whetherrgdgiousaccommodation they demand is requ
by Title VII. As the Court noted ilgbal, Rule 8“does not unlock the doors of discovery fg
plaintiff armed with nothing more than conclusidns556 U.S. at 67879. And Plaintiffs’
allegations of religious discrimination cannot, without anythingre, unlock the doors
discovery on allegations of race and national origin discriminatids.to their Title VIl counts
Plaintiffs do not offer everia formulaic ecitation of the elements of the cause of attiomn
“conclusory statements.ld. at 678. Consequently, they have failed to state a claim.
Finally, the FACs allegations that ArierfsegregatedPlaintiffs, stripped of their raci
connotations, amounts to nothing more than allegations that Amanagement met with i
Muslim employees several times after Ariens decided it woaldonger accommodate thg
prayer schedule to inform them of decision and explain when the change would go into €

and what it would mean. FAQY47, 52, 63. Additionally, the FA@lleges that Arien%also

[€
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segregated all Somali Muslim workers, including the Plaintiffs trexevetill employed, in g

apparent but discriminatory attempt to ease the process of enfordimgpiihen religious breaks.

Id. 170. Although Ariens strenuously denies the allegation that Sduoalim employees wer

segregated at work and insists tlfeyorked on varying shifts, linesnd positions throughout

Ariens Company,Def’s Reply Mem., ECF No. 16, at 7 n.3, even if the allegation is true,st

not make Plaintiffsclaim of race or national origin discrimination more plausible, at lgatsin

n

doe

light of the fact that the reason alleged for thegregatiohwas“to ease the process of enforcing

the ban on religious breaks.FAC  70. An allegation that employees were segregate
religion does not make plausible a claim of race or national originrdisation, especiallwhen
the stated reason for the alleged segregation was to monitor the ersptoyegliance with the

new policy prohibiting unscheduled breaks for religious reasons.

In sum, Count | of the FAC states a claim for discriminatiohéntérms and conditions o

Plaintiffs employment on the basis of Plaintiffeligion in violation of Title VII. It fails to stat
a Title VII claim for discrimination against Plaintiffs on accoahtheir race or national origin
B. Hostile Work Environment
Count Il of theFAC is entitled“Hostile Work Environment in Violation of Title VH
FAC at 16. In addition to ralleging and incorporating the previous paragraphs, the FAC a
in support of Count Il that Ariens

subjectedPlaintiffs to a hostile work environmeint violation of Title VII by (1)
subjecting Plaintiffs to harassment, intimidation, threats &wijpdinary action for
exercising their sincerelgeld religious beliefs, (2) revoking the original
reasonable accommodatiar permitting Plaintiffs to take short, unscheduled
breaks during their shifts to perform their obligatory prayers, and aeidjng an
alternative reasonable accommodation that would have enabled Plaintiffs t
adhere to their sincerelyeld religious bkefs and practices, even though such an
accommodation would not have interfered with business operations,3and (
terminating Plaintiffs employment or placing them on track for eventual
termination when they insisted on adhering to those beliefs anicpsac
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Id. 197 (misnumberef 43).

To prevail on a hostile work environment claim, a plaintiff mushdnstrate that: (1) tk
work environment was both objectively and subjectively offensi®); the harassme
complained of was based the plaintiff’s membership in a protected class under Title VII,

as the plaintifs race, religion or national origin; (3) the conduct was either severevasper,

and (4) there is a basis for employer liabili®grter v. City of Chi., 700 F.3d 944, 955 (7th Cir.

2012);Dear v. Shinseki, 578 F.3d 605, 611 (7th Cir. 2009). To the extent Count Il is intend
state a claim that Plaintiffs were subjected to a hostile work envirdribeeause of their race
national orgin, it fails for the same reason Count | fails to state a dtairdiscrimination on thg
basis. There are no facts alleged in support of Count Il that maksiljdathe claim thg
Plaintiffs were subjected to any harassment on account of their raagianal origin. Arien
argues, however, that Count Ill also fails to state a hostile workoamént claim based ¢
Plaintiffs' religion.

Ariens argues that of the thréeonclusory allegatiorisasserted in Count Ill, only th
first—that Ariens“subject[ed]Plaintiffs to harassment, intimidation, threats and discipi
action for exercising theirirscerelyheld religious beliefs~“involves the type of condu
recognized by the federal courts as giving rise to a claim for a hostileemvironmat.” Def.’s
Mem. in Suppat 4. And because the FAGils to allege specific facts to support its conclus
assertion of a hostile work environménfriens argues that claim should be dismissed in
Id. at 4-5. Ariens also contends that tlonly plausible allegation of religiotisased harassme
involves a single instance of Ariemaanagement calling the Plaintiftsoublemakers$! Id. at 6

(citing FAC § 79). Citing Porter, 700 F.3d at 956, Ariens argues tlfthis isolated ang
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relatively mld comment is neither sufficiently severe, nor sufficiently pervativereate a
actionable hostile workplace. Def’s Mem. in Suppat 6.
Plaintiffs conclusory allegation that they were subjectedhrasment, intimidation

threats and disciplinary action for exercising their sinceneld religious beliefsis insufficient

=)

to state a claim for hostile work environment. This is becdagal conclusions and conclusory

allegations merely reciting the aetents of the claim are not entitled to this presumption of tr

McCauley v. Chi., 671 F.3d 611, 616 (7th Cir. 2011) (citirgpal, 556 U.S. at 681). When o

looks beyond Plaintiffsconclusions to the specific factual allegations underlying Phignti

claim, it is clear thatthe FAC's conclusory allegation that Ariens subjected Plaintiff
“harassment, intimidation, threats and disciplinary ati®saimply Plaintiff$ characterization g
Ariens decision to rescind the accommodation it had preli@llowed and manageméneffort

to implement that decision. Indeed, one struggles to discern hawmtifd’ religious

discrimination claim in Count | differs from their hostile workveanment claim in Count lI.

The language used in the underlying allegations is identiCaimpare FAC § 93,with § 97
(misnumbered] 43).

There is no suggestion that Ariensndgated Plaintiffs religion or treated ther
differently from any other employee except as necessary to insure thejyiezbmith the new
policy, a concern that for obvious reasons did not exist withNiasliim employees. Arien
simply concluded that thaccommodation it had previously allowed was unduly burdens
Cf. Huri v. Office of Chief Judge of Circuit Court of Cook Cty., 804 F.3d 826, 8280 (7th Cir.
2015) (Muslim employes supervisor was unfriendly from moment they met; repeatefiyree
to other colleagues and herself‘geod Christiansor “good churchgoing Christiarignstructed

coworker to work witifgood Christiahrather than plaintifffwho was evil; said a prayefin the

13
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name of Jesus Christfalsely criticized plaintiff and madfalse misconduct charge against her;

and screamed at plaintiff and subjected her to greater scrutiny ancerdiffedes than her

co-workers).

Yet, the fact that the two claims overlap does not mean that both cannoteleds
Plaintiffs allege that Ariens unreasonably revoked the accommadatigheir prayer schedu
that it had assured them it would provide when it hired them, even thb&gitcommodatio
“worked smoothlyyand placedno burden of any kifdon Ariens business. FA®Y38, 4344.
Assuming, as is required in deciding a motion to dismiss, tlesethllegations are true, th
Ariens decision revoking the accommodation amounts to religious discriorinagains
Plaintiffs. Ariens efforts to prohibit Plaintiffs from praying as required by their retigivhich
included warnings, discipline, monitoring their restroom breaks, girayifalse informatior
about their eligibility for unemployment benefiend eventually terminating tineemployment
could amount to the kind of severe and pervasive conduct needed to dateams$tostile wor
environment. Under these circumstances, the hostile work amenat claim of Count 111 likely
rises or falls with the religious discrimination iolaof Count I. In other words, if Arieh
decision to rescind the accommodation was justified for businessnseabken its efforts t
implement its new policy in the face of the Plaintiffssistance would, at least for the most
be deemed reasdnla and nondiscriminatory. If, on the other hand, there was no bu
justification for rescinding the accommodation, then Arielegision to do so and managen'®
actions in prohibiting prayer breaks and taking steps to enforce its niewy, pgiven the
importance of prayer in the Muslim religion, may amount to the kihdasassment an
intimidation hostile work environment claims are intended toessd For these reasons, Arieg

motion to dismiss Count Il in its entirety will be denied. the extent Count Ill is intended
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assert a hostile work environment claim based on race or nationaldisgrimination, however,
Ariens motion is granted.
C. Section 1981

Finally, CountlV (misnumberedCount V) of the FAC alleges a violation of Section 1 of
the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 14 Stat. 27, 42 U.S&1981. Section 1981 prohibits racial
discrimination in the making and enforcement of private contraBigiyon v. McCrary, 427
U.S. 160, 168 (1976). Section 1981 has also been held to protect from idistom
“identifiable classes of persons who are subjected to intentionahdisation solely because pf
their ancestry or ethnic characteristicsSaint Francis Coll. v. Al-Khazraji, 481 U.S. 604, 613
(1987). However, Section 1981 does not protect against discrimination basedsrebgion.

Lubavitch-Chabad of Ill., Inc. v. Northwestern Univ., 772 F.3d 443, 447 (7th Cir. 2014). Ariens

argues the FAC has failed to allege a plausiblei@ed981 claim and that Count IV should

therefore be dismissed.

Count IV of the FAC raalleges and incorporates all of the preceding paragraphs which the

court has already determined do not state a plausible claim for disionitvased on the race|or
naional origin of Plaintiffs. In addition to these allegatiohswever, Count IV of the FAC
includes two additional allegations. Here, Ariens is alleged to have
violated 42 U.S.C§ 1981 by subjecting Plaintiffs to intentional discrimination by
harassing, intimidating, threatening, implementing disciplinaryoactand by
terminating Plaintiffs or placing them on track for eventual ternanabn the
basis of their race, ethnic backgnd and ancestry, which had the purpose and/or
effect of denying Plaintiffs full and equal access to the making myf a
employeremployee contractual relationship between Plaintiffs and Defendant
Id. § 101 (misnumbered] 45). Count IV of the FAC alsollages that“Defendant

abovedescribed conduct was discriminatory based on Plaintdfse, ethnic background and

ancestry and was motivated by racial animus in violation of 42 U&.12881" Id. f 103

15




(misnumberedf 47). Plaintiffs contend that thesllegations, combined with the preced

allegations that are 1alleged and incorporated into Count 1V, are sufficient to stalaim unde

42 U.S.C.§ 1981.

ng

It is true that in support of its Section 1981litlathe FAC has finally alleged that Ariens

was motivated by racial animus and engaged in racial discriminatioallesyation entirely
missing from the Title VII claims. But the allegations of ah@nimus and discrimination, like

those of discriminatin based on ethnic backgrabiand ancestry, are conclusory anecisely the

type of allegations thagbal andTwombly said should be disregarded in assessing the plaus

of a claim when deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiSse McReynoldsv. Merrill Lynch &

ibility

Co., 694 F.3d 873, 886 (7th Cir. 2012We agree with the district court that these allegations of

intent are the sort of conclusory allegations that are insufficietierigbal.”). Just as the court

did in McReynolds, it is helpful to ompare the FAC to the complaint that was rejectédbal.
Igbal, it is important to recall, was an action brought by a Muslim Pakagtretria
detainee against current and former government officials,idiegtat they unconstitutional

confined himunder harsh conditions because of his religion,,racé/or national origin. 556

U.S. at 669. The Court grantedertiorari to review the lower courtslenial of the defendants

motion to dismiss on grounds of qualified immunitid. at 670. After reaffirming the twg
“working principle$ that underlay its decision iwombly, thelgbal Court began its analysiby
identifying the allegations in the complaint that are not entitlatiéassumption of truth. 556
U.S. at 680. These includéke allegations thdfpetitioners knew of, condoned, and willfu
and maliciously agreed to subject him to harsh conditions of coméineas a matter of polic
solely on account of his religion, race, and/or national originfando legitimate penofgical

interest] that “Ashcroft was the principal architect of this invidious policy #mat Mueller was
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instrumental in adopting and executing itld. at 683-81 (internal quotes, brackets and citati
omitted). “These bare assertiohshe Court stad, “much like the pleading of conspiracy
Twombly, amount to nothing more than a formulaic recitation of the elenoé@€onstitutioal
discrimination claim, . . namely, that petitioners adopted a polibgcause of,not merely‘in
spite of; its adverse effects upon an identifiable grdudd. at 681 (internal quotations a
citations omitted). “As such’ the Court concludedithe allegations are conclusory and
entitled to be assumed trueld.

The Court made clear that it was not rejectitiggse bald allegations on the ground
they are unrealistic or nonsensitalld. “It is the conclusory nature of respondent's allegatic
the Court explainedyather than their extravagantly fancifudture, that disentitles them to {
presumption of truth. Id.

The Court then turned to the factual allegations of the comgtaindetermine if the
plausibly suggest an entitlement to refiefid. Here, the Court noted th&he complaint allege
that “the FBI, under the direction of Defendant MUELLER, arrested and dettinedands
Arab Muslim men ... as part of its investigation of the events of September. 11 It further
claims that the policy of holding peSeptemberllth detaineesiihighly restrictive condition
of confinement until they werelearedby the FBI was approved by Defendants ASHCROFT]
MUELLER in discussions in the weeks after September 11, 2004.. (internal quotations
brackets and citation omitted)‘Taken astrue; the Court observedithese allegations a
consistent with petitioners' purposefully designating detaittéddsgh interestbecause of the
race, religion, or national origih. Id. “But given more likely explanatioristhe Court

concluded;they do not plausibly establish this purpdsed.
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The “more likely explanation$,the Court went on to explain, were the eventstioé

September 11 attacks.ld. at 682. These attacKsvere perpetrated by 18rab Muslim

hijackers who counted themselves members in good standing of al,Qaedkslamig

fundamentalist group. Id. The Court found it unsurprising thé& legitimate policy directin

law enforcement to arrest and detain individuals because ofsthepected link to the attagks

would produce a disparate, incidental impact on Arab Muslims, érrgh the purpose of the

policy was to target neither Arabs nor Muslitnsld. The Court noted that on the facts allege

the complaint, “the arrests Mueller oversaw were likely lawful and justified by

din

his

nondiscriminatory intent to detain aliens who were illegallysene in the United States and who

had potential connections to those who committed terrorist atts. “As between thabbvious
alternatve explanatioh for the arrests, . . . and the purposeful, invidious discringin
respondent asks us to infethe Court concludeddiscrimination is not a plausible conclusio
Id.

The same is true in this case. In the face of the conflict alleg®tten Arienschange ir
policy and Plaintiffsdemands that they be allowed to take additional and unschededdd las
religious accommodation for their Muslim faith, the conclysaltegations that Ariens is acti
out of animus toward Plaintiffsace, ethnic backgroundr national origin are insufficient {
create a plausible claim under Section 1981. There are no allegationsi¢hgtAanagemern
or other employees made racial or ethnic slurs, or treated thosacAm@&lack Muslims o
Somali national origin who accepted the new policy any differently than othesBtaxk or
nonSomali employees. Nor is there any allegation that Ariens tretited AfricanAmerican
employees in a discriminatory manner. It is Arledecision to rescind theccommodation fo

Plaintiffs prayer schedule that accounts for Plaintiffsnflict with Ariens. As between th

At
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—
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obvious alternative explanation for the conflict, which the FAC ekplialleges, and th
purposeful invidious discrimination Plaintiffsedeto infer, racial or ethnic discrimination is ng
plausible conclusion.

Suggesting thatgbal and Twombly do not apply to employment discrimination cas
Plaintiffs cite Luevano v. Wal-Mart Stores, which oveturned the district coud dismissal of
complaint alleging sex discrimination and retaliation by the ppdasetiff's employer. 722 F.3d
at 1030. In Luevano, the court explicitly recognizetisome unresolved tensibmetween

Twombly andlgbal and tle Courts earlier decision iBmerkiewiczv. Sorema N.A., 534 U.S. 50¢

(2002), which held that a complaint in an employment discrin@ndwsuit need not contai

specific facts establishing a prima facie case of discrimination underathevork adopted i
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (19733 Luevano, 722 F.3d at 1028&ee also
McCauley, 671 F.3d at 629 (Hamilton, J., dissenting). After cutting through a serie
procedural and jurisdictional roadblocks, the coutiievano held that the district court had err
in dismissing the con@int on a finding that the plaintifidid not plead facts sufficient to shg
that her ceworker harassed her because of’seX22 F.3d at 1028.“Even if that was correct
the court notedithe district court failed to address Luevano's viable claim that herveqgre
discriminated against her because of her sex and her claim that heisarpgriujected her to
hostile work environment. . . . Luevano's first complaint pled facts consistent
supervisorbased harassment that, under the leniewadpig standards for pro se plaintiffs, w
sufficient to state a claim that her supervisor harassed her becauseesfdest gld. at 1028-29.
Luevano is distinguishable in several important respects from this cdsest, the
plaintiff in Luevano was pro se. The court expressly notfd]s a preliminary matter, th

pleading standards for pro se plaintiffs are considerably relaxediretrenwake oTwombly and
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Igbal.” Id. at 1027 (citations omitted). Here, by contrast, Plaintiffs are representad
competent counsel. Second, the factual allegations of the conmplairvano, as recounted hy
the court, were more than mere legal conclusions:
She clearly pled that her supervisor chose not to remedy the situatiosdéeau
supervisor and Luevarsotoworker were both males and her supervisor wanted to
help him just as he helps his brother. She also attached docunwmegjuired by
the concise form provided by the Northern District of Illinanglicating that she
suffered medical consequences as a result of the alleged intimidation and
harassment by her manager. Luevano thus sufficiently pled the éaetssary to
state a claim that she was harassed by her supervisor.
Id. at 1029. Finally, unlike this case ahgbal, no alternative explanation for the adverse
employment actions alleged by the plaintifLimevano appeared in the complaint. An inference
that the supervisor was motivated by the plaistifender might beeasonable when no other

explanation for his alleged mistreatment of her was apparent. nBhisi case, essentially the

entire focus of the complaint is Ariéndecision to rescind the religious accommodation|and

D

managemenhs efforts to implement and enforce the change in policy. Plaintfly disput

-

Ariens conclusion that accommodating unscheduled prayer breaks over the warkpdags a
undue burden on its business and other employees. But its conctusioinsp irational as to
suggest, absent more, that Ariens’ actionst have been motivated by animus toward Plaihtiffs
race or ethnic background.

In any event, notwithstanding thenresolved tensidnt has noted betweefwombly and
Igbal, on the one hand, andree of the Cout$ previous decisions, on the other, the Seventh
Circuit has rejected the argument that Twembly/Igbal pleading standard does not apply to
employment discrimination casesSee McReynolds, 694 F.3d at 885 (rejecting suggestion that
reliance onigbal in Title VII case is misplacedfidamsv. City of Indianapolis, 742 F.3d 720, 728

(7th Cir. 2014) (applyingwombly/Igbal pleading standard to Title VII claims). To be sure, in
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applying that standard, the Seventh Circuit has held that conglafiegations such &% was

subjected to sexual harassméfigte v. SCR Medical Transportation, 809 F.3d 343, 345 (7th Cir.

2015), or[l] was fired because of [my] agelark v. Law Office of Terrence Kennedy, Jr., 709 F,
App’x 826, 828 (7th Cir. 201), suffice when the plaintiff is pro se, the claim is strdaiaard,
and no obvious alternative explanation is apparent. But none s tha@eptions apply he
Plaintiffs, as noted, are represented by competent counsel, theis @e@ not straigfarward,
and an obvious alternative explanation for the treatment they chaikengt only apparent but
expressly and unequivocally alleged. Under these circumstandesptiusory allegations ¢
racial and/or ethnic discrimination are insuffitie Ariens motion to dismiss PlaintiffsSSection
1981 claim will therefore be granted.

CONCLUSION

4

-

S

f

For the reasons set forth above, ArieRsle 12(b)(6) motion for partial dismissal (ECF

No. 12) is GRANTED-IN-PART and DENIED-IN-PART. The motion is granted as

Plaintiffs’ Title VII claims for racial and national origin discriminatiacn Counts | and Ill, and as

to Plaintiffs’ Section 1981 claim in Count IV in its entiretyThese claims are dismissed without

prejudice. In all other respects, the motion is deniédiens motion to dismiss the original

complaint (ECF No. 8) iPENIED ASMOQOT.

SO ORDERED this 18" day of June, 2018

s/ William C. Griesbach
William C. Griesbach, Chief Judge
United States District CourtWIED
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